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who acquired a soap factory in 1833, in 1835 took over the Rose Inn
from his wife’s father and brother, became town postmaster when
Solomon Levien moved to Sydney and was involved with the
development of the Maitland and Newcastle Steam Navigation
Company; Simeon J. Cohen, P. J. Cohen’s step-brother, who went
into partnership with Alfred Levien trading under the name Simeon
J. Cohen and Company and describing the enterprise as commission
agents and dealers and a wholesale wine and spirit business; Henry
Robert Reuben who manufactured cordial; Edward Salamon who
opened a branch of his Sydney wine and spirit merchant’s business;
and Samuel Cohen (not related to P. J. Cohen) who opened a store,
Lambeth House, named after the area of London in which he was
born and, a while later, with brother David and cousin, Lewis Wolfe
Levy, established David Cohen and Company - a business that was
to figure prominently in the commercial development of the region
and beyond, and was to produce leading figures of the Sydney
Jewish community in subsequent generations, including George
Judah Cohen, his son Sir Samuel Cohen and grandson, Major
General Paul Cullen (Cohen).”

This was a boom time for West Maitland and these early Jewish
settlers benefited from the boom. The district had been opened up,
land grants allocated, a government town surveyed at nearby East
Maitland, and the trade route along the Hunter River well
established. Settlers were pushing north and north-west taking
goods with them and the goods and services they needed were at
least partly provided by the stores, warehouses and inns in
Maitland.

The 1840s, however, brought a temporary halt to this prosperity
and the town’s expansion. Drought and an economic depression
affected Maitland as they did the rest of the colony. The falling
economy meant contracting opportunities. Some enterprises closed,
others faltered, some diversified. Local merchants and settlers
became insolvent;'® among them were Philip Joseph Cohen, Samuel
Cohen, Simeon Joseph Cohen, Alfred Levien, Solomon Levien and
Edward Salamon.'’ Their insolvency files attest to the boom-time
speculation that preceded the economic slump and mark these men
as people aiming to create wealth, not men born to wealth. Samuel
Cohen, for example, who was declared insolvent in 1843, had
carried on his pursuits in Maitland for about eight years. Starting
with only £30, he had acquired land in Maitland to the value of
£5,550 and had debts amounting to over £'7,000.20

Some settlers moved on; others stayed, waiting out the
downturn. As the gold discoveries of the early 1850s rebooted the
colonial economy, local merchants and the trade that passed
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through Maitland again built up. The population increase reflected
the growth, with West Maitland expanding from 1,746 in 1841 to
3,131 in 1851, 5,694 in 1861 and stabilising at around 5,000 for the
next two decades and then, in the 1880s, seeing another increase so
that by 1891 West Maitland recorded a population of 7,.?,95.21

Some of the key commercial and trade enterprises that sat at the
core of this expansion were those established by members of the
Jewish community: some by residents who withstood the 1840s
slump, others by newcomers to the district attracted by the growing
economy and by the presence of a small but significant Jewish
community. Prominent among the Jewish businesses was David
Cohen and Company. Others included Goulston and Company’s
clothing store; Morris Benjamin’s clothing and boot store and his
boot manufacturing business; photographers Jacob Audet, Elijah
Hart and Morris Moss; watchmakers Brodziak and Davis; Samuel
Hart’s Fitzroy House with its selection of brandy, gin and rum
alongside hardware, drapery, glass, boots and shoes; auctioneer
Isaac Israel; and Joseph Marks’ drapery business, Commerce
House.”

The owners of these commercial and trade enterprises made up
the core of the local Jewish community. Many of the men became
prominent in local affairs, some eventually making their mark in
the wider colonial sphere as professionals, politicians and
philanthropists as well as contributing significantly to Jewish
community life in Sydney and beyond. Among prominent public
figures of the first generation of the early Maitland Jewish
community were Philip Joseph Cohen, Samuel and David Cohen,
Joseph Marks, and Lewis Wolfe Levy.23

The strength and prosperity of the local Jewish community
were reflected in the early establishment of its own burial ground,
the erection of significant commercial and residential buildings
including the still extant ‘Cintra’ residence and bottom storey of the
David Cohen and Company warehouse, and, in 1879, the building of
the Maitland synagogue. Somewhat ironically, the synagogue was
built as the economic fortunes of Maitland were being reshaped
following the opening of the Newcastle to Maitland railway in 1858,
the completion of the Sydney to Newcastle rail link in 1889, and the
rise of Newcastle as the new commercial and trade hub for the lower
Hunter Valley.

A symptom of these changes was the relocation of the head
office of David Cohen and Company from Maitland to Newcastle in
the late 1880s, and the accompanying shift of the focus of the
Jewish community to Newcastle. The Maitland synagogue ceased to
function as a synagogue in 1898 and burials in the Maitland Jewish






















































